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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Robert Harrison, the appellant below, asks this 

Court to review his case. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Mr. Harrison requests review of the Court of 

Appeals decision in State v. Harrison, COA No. 83638-2-

1, filed January 16, 2024, and the Court of Appeals order 

denying his Motion For Reconsideration filed March 26, 

2024. The decision and order are attached to this petition 

as appendices A and B, respectively. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether review is appropriate under RAP 

13.4(b )( 1) because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts 

with State v. Derri, 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022)? 

2. Whether the Court of Appeals' failure to follow 

Derri tainted its harmless error analysis on every claim for 

which it agreed there had been trial error? 

3. Whether review is also appropriate under RAP 
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13.4(b )( 1 )-(2) because the Court of Appeals' decision that 

defense counsel "likely " and tactically "chose not to object" 

when the prosecutor misstated significant defense 

evidence (thereby immunizing defense counsel against any 

Sixth Amendment challenge) conflicts with the record and 

with prior decisions from this Court and the Court of 

Appeals? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Charges 

The King County Prosecutor's Office charged 

Robert Harrison with two counts of Robbery in the First 

Degree, each including a firearm sentencing 

enhancement, and one count of Unlawful Possession of a 

Firearm in the First Degree. CP 206-207. 

For the robbery charges in counts 1 and 2, the State 

alleged that on January 6, 2020, Mr. Harrison, while 

displaying a handgun, committed theft of personal 

property belonging to Joseph Moningka and Dinasetia 
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Sangkay as the two walked to dinner in Seattle's 

University District. CP 3, 206-207. Count 3 was based 

on Mr. Harrison's prior conviction for a serious offense, 

which prohibited him from possessing a firearm. CP 207. 

Mr. Harrison denied the charges, maintaining he 

had been misidentified as the robber. CP 177, 181. 

2. Trial Evidence 

Mr. Harrison's opening brief in the Court of Appeals 

contains a more thorough discussion of the trial evidence. 

See Appellant's Opening Brief ("AOB"), at 24-35. 

In summary, on the evening of January 6, 2020, Mr. 

Moningka and Ms. Sangkay parked their Honda Accord in 

Seattle's University District. As they walked toward a 

restaurant, a man robbed them at gunpoint, taking their 

cell phones and car keys. RP 467-4 75, 499-506. 

Once the robber had the phones and car keys, he 

turned and ran back towards the Honda Accord. RP 4 76, 

508-509. At the same time, Mr. Moningka and Ms. 
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Sangkay headed in the opposite direction and eventually 

borrowed someone's phone to call 911. RP 476-477, 509, 

511-513; exhibits 9-10. From a distance, and while 

speaking to a 911 operator, Mr. Moningka could see that 

the robber had entered the Accord from the driver's door. 

RP 510, 528. After a few minutes, Mr. Moningka saw the 

robber exit the Accord and head east (farther away from 

the couple), where he lost sight of the robber. RP 510, 

515-516, 528-529, 536-537. About a minute later, Mr. 

Moningka saw someone (whom he believed to be the 

same man that had robbed them) return to the Accord and 

get inside. RP 528. 

By the time police arrived, Robert Harrison was 

standing by the open driver's side door of the Accord. RP 

549-550, 555-556. He made eye contact with a female 

officer, Officer Samantha Morris, nodded at her and she 

nodded back. RP 549-550, 555-556, 836. Harrison then 

closed the car door and headed down the street on foot. 
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RP 550-551. Officers arrested him shortly thereafter. RP 

646-647. 

Police searched Mr. Harrison for a firearm but found 

none. RP 647. Officers found Mr. Moningka's and Ms. 

Sangkay's cell phones in Harrison's pants pockets and an 

empty gun holster attached to his belt. RP 484, 532-533, 

588-590, 593-594, 727-728. Inside Mr. Moningka's car, 

officers found a loaded .9 mm pistol on the front passenger 

floorboard and the keys to the car nearby. RP 611-615, 

633. Later testing of the firearm revealed it was operable, 

but no latent prints were recovered from its surface. RP 

634, 736-737. 

While Mr. Harrison was still at the arrest scene, 

police drove Mr. Moningka to that location and had him 

identify Mr. Harrison as the robber. RP 516-520. During 

trial, prosecutors also had Mr. Moningka identify Harrison 

as the robber. RP 520. 

Mr. Harrison steadfastly denied he was the robber. 
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RP 823, 839, 842. He testified that, on the evening of 

January 6, he was in the University District walking to a 

friend's house, where he intended to stay the night and 

replenish his drug supply. RP 830-831, 854. As he 

walked, he noticed the victims' Honda Accord because its 

lights were on and someone was in the driver's seat. RP 

832. The individual then exited the car and walked away 

from it, leaving the driver's door wide open. RP 832. Mr. 

Harrison watched and, when the driver failed to return, 

decided to find out if there was anything of value inside the 

car. RP 833. 

Mr. Harrison got into the driver's seat and found two 

cell phones and a gun in a holster. RP 834. Intending to 

trade the items for drugs, Mr. Harrison put the phones in 

his pockets. RP 834, 839. When he reached for the 

holster, the gun slipped out. He tied the empty holster 

around his waist and reached to pick up the gun but was 

distracted from doing so by approaching car lights. RP 
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834-835. 

Fearing he was about to be caught, Mr. Harrison 

exited the car, leaving behind the gun, which he never 

touched. RP 835. It was then that he saw Officer Morris 

and exchanged nods with her before walking away and 

then running. RP 549-551, 555-556, 836, 840. Shortly 

thereafter, another officer stopped him, cuffed him, and 

found the phones in his pockets and the empty holster. RP 

835-838. He was then taken to jail. RP 841. 

The primary disputed trial issue was identify. RP 888-

897, 905-907, 912-920. The defense argued that someone 

else had robbed Mr. Moningka and Ms. Sangkay, entered 

their car, but then walked away, leaving their cell phones 

and his holstered gun behind. Mr. Harrison then seized an 

opportunity for theft. But he was merely a thief, not an 

armed robber, supported by the fact his fingerprints were 

not found on the gun. RP 904-905, 920-922. 

Jurors convicted Mr. Harrison on the robbery 
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charges in counts 1 and 2 and found the firearm 

sentencing enhancement proved for each count. CP 256-

257, 259-260. They also convicted him in count 3 of 

Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. CP 258. 

3. Court of Appeals 

Mr. Harrison raised several issues on appeal. 

Among them, he challenged the trial court's admission of 

Mr. Moningka's identification of him as the robber at the 

scene of his arrest and again at trial. He argued the on­

scene show-up procedure violated due process because it 

was impermissibly suggestive, created a substantial 

likelihood of irreparable misidentification, and necessarily 

tainted the subsequent in-court identification. See AOB, at 

36-52; Reply Brief of Appellant ("RBF"), at 1-22. 

He raised prosecutorial misconduct based on the trial 

deputy's use of an improper generic tailoring argument 

during closing arguments. See AOB, at 52-68; RBF, at 22-

28. 
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He raised additional prosecutorial misconduct based 

on the trial deputy's misstatement of critical evidence 

during closing arguments and - in a related claim -

ineffective assistance of counsel for his attorney's failure to 

do anything about it. See AOB, at 68-77; RBF, at 28-33. 

He also argued cumulative error - that the combined 

impact of these errors denied him a fair trial. See AOB, at 

93-94; RBF, at 39-42. 

The Court of Appeals agreed there had been several 

serious errors. 

Regarding the challenged identifications, the Court of 

Appeals found the procedures used at the show-up 

identification were impermissibly suggestive but concluded 

there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification under the Biggers 1 factors. Thus, the on­

scene identification was properly admitted at trial. Slip Op., 

at 7. But the Court agreed police had tainted the in-court 
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identification, which should not have occurred. Slip Op., at 

9-10. 

Regarding prosecutorial misconduct, the Court 

agreed the trial prosecutor violated Harrison's constitutional 

rights to appear and testify at trial under article 1, sec. 22 of 

the Washington Constitution by making a generic tailoring 

argument and agreed the prosecutor misstated the 

evidence to the State's advantage during closing 

arguments. Slip Op., at 12-13, 18. 

But the Court of Appeals found every violation of Mr. 

Harrison's rights harmless based on two circumstances. 

See Slip Op., at 7-29. The first circumstance was its finding 

that Mr. Moningka's show-up identification was properly 

admitted. The second circumstance was that Officer 

Samantha Morris had identified Mr. Harrison as the man 

standing by the driver's door of the victims' car by the time 

she arrived on scene. See Slip Op., at 11-12, 17, 21, 29. 

1 Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. 
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Mr. Harrison filed a Motion For Reconsideration. 

Regarding the show-up identification, he pointed out 

that the Court of Appeals had failed to apply the 

Washington Supreme Court's then-recent opinion in State 

v. Derri, 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022), when 

finding there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification under the Biggers factors. He argued the 

Court of Appeals' failure to assess those factors under 

Derri's updated and modified approach skewed the results 

in the State's favor. Motion, at 3-7. 

Regarding the prosecutor's misstatement of 

important evidence, Mr. Harrison challenged the Court of 

Appeals' finding that his attorney's failure to object or 

otherwise correct the record could somehow be deemed a 

"legitimate tactic," thereby precluding relief. Motion, at 10-

14. 

Finally, Mr. Harrison took issue with the Court of 

Ed. 2d 401 (1972). 
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Appeals harmless error analysis. Regarding its reliance on 

the show-up identification, he again pointed out the 

identification should not have been admitted under Derri's 

revised approach. Motion, at 8, 10, 14-15. And, regarding 

the Court of Appeals' reliance on Officer Samantha Morris, 

he noted the obvious problem: 

while it is correct to say, "Officer Morris also 
identified Harrison at trial," context is critical 
here. Officer Morris did not witness - nor did 
she claim to witness - the robber approaching 
the victims, pulling a gun, taking the victims' 
property, or even walking toward and entering 
their car. Nor did she claim to see, as 
Moningka did, the robber exit the Honda, head 
toward the Foege Building, and walk out of the 
victims' line of sight for about a minute. See 
RP 502-516, 528-529, 536-537 (Moningka's 
trial testimony). 

Officer Morris did not even arrive on scene 
until after Harrison subsequently approached 
the Honda and entered. See RP 546-550, 555-
556. Everyone agrees this was Harrison. But 
Officer Morris did not and could not identify 
Harrison as the man who had just robbed the 
victims that night. Nor was she even asked to 
make such an identification. Thus, her in-court 
identification of Harrison [as the man later seen 
standing by the car] does not diminish, much 
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less overcome, the prejudice from [the trial 
error]. 

Motio11, at 8-9; see also id., at 10, 14-15 (noting the Court's 

reliance on Officer Morris tainted its harmless error analysis 

for each trial error). 

After calling for and receiving a response from the 

State, the Court of Appeals denied the Motion for 

Reconsideration without explanation or modification of its 

opinion. See Appendix B. 

Mr. Harrison now seeks this Court's review. 

E. ARGUMENT 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 
CONFLICTS WITH DERRI 

Although this Court decided Derri after Mr. Harrison 

was convicted and sentenced, both sides addressed the 

decision on appeal. See Brief of Respondent, at 18, 20, 

24-25, 28; Reply Brief of Appellant, at 2-3, 10-11, 13, 19. 

And while the Court of Appeals cited Derri in its 

opinion, it failed to actually heed Derri's directive to now 
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"consider widely accepted scientific data on the fallibility of 

eyewitness identification procedures" and "apply relevant, 

widely accepted modern science on eyewitness 

identification at each step of the test." Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 

675. 

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals properly 

concluded that Mr. Moningka's show-up identification was 

impermissibly suggestive. Slip Op., at 7. However, after 

assessing the Biggers factors, it concluded there was not a 

substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Id. at 

6-9. Under Derri, however, this latter conclusion was not 

properly analyzed or decided. 

Regarding Biggers factor 2 (witness' degree of 

attention), the Court of Appeals noted that although Dr. 

Jeffrey Loftus - a defense expert on false identifications -

testified at trial that "weapon focus" diverts the victim's 

attention from other details of the assailant, this evidence 

was not introduced or considered by the judge at the CrR 
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3.6 hearing. Slip Op., at 9 n.5. But Derri now establishes 

this is a widely accepted scientific principle courts must 

consider. See Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 687 n.24 ("Research 

shows . . .  the fear instilled by the weapon directs attention 

to the weapon rather than the perpetrator. "). 

The robber pointed his gun at Mr. Moningka in close 

proximity (Moningka's best opportunity to observe). RP 

4 7 4-4 75, 502, 504. Mr. Moningka even admitted at the 

CrR 3.6 hearing his focus was on the gun when the robber 

was near. RP 538. And while the Court of Appeals 

acknowledged that Moningka focused on the gun during 

the robbery, Slip Op., at 8, without employing Derri's 

established science on this subject, the Court erred when it 

nonetheless found Moningka's "focus on Harrison . . . 

during . . .  the robbery supports his attention being good." 

Slip Op., at 9 (emphasis added). 

Regarding Biggers factor 3 (accuracy of the witness's 

prior description of the criminal), as the State 
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acknowledged in its Brief of Respondent, under Derri, 

"consistent descriptions do not correlate strongly with 

reliability." SOR, at 24 (citing Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 688). In 

Derri, even the "reasonably detailed description of the 

robber, " provided by three separate witnesses, received 

"limited weight." Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 687-688. Yet, in 

finding there was not a substantial likelihood of irreparable 

misidentification in Harrison's case, the Court of Appeals 

cited with approval the trial judge's finding that Moningka's 

general description of Harrison was "accurate." Slip Op., at 

9. 

The Court of Appeals also failed to apply Derri to 

Biggers factor 4 (witness' level of certainty). After noting 

"the parties agree that the trial court properly found that 

Moningka's level of certainty was good, " the Court said 

nothing more about this factor. See Slip Op., at 7. Mr. 

Moningka's level of certainty was good, but Derri now 

makes clear that, where police have used suggestive 
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procedures (which the Court of Appeals agreed police used 

in Mr. Harrison's case) high levels of certainty no longer 

correlate with accuracy of description. Deri, 199 Wn.2d at 

688. Under Derri, the Court of Appeals erred in treating 

this factor as if it favored reliability of Mr. Moningka's show­

up identification. 

Unlike Division One, Divisions Two and Three 

recognize that Derri applies to cases currently on appeal 

even where the opinion was not yet available to the trial 

court. See State v. Giancoli, 28 Wn. App. 2d 1045, 2023 

WL 7156773, at *6-*7 (2023) ("Although we may decline to 

consider new issues raised for the first time on appeal, the 

same is not true for new authority''; Division Two applies 

Derri's established scientific principles); State v. Casares, 

27 Wn. App. 2d 1003, at *5-*8 (2023) ("the scientific 

evidence considered in Derri not only changed the factors 

to consider but also the weight assigned to various factors"; 
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Division Three reviews trial court's Biggers findings under 

Derri), review denied, 2 Wn.3d 1014, 540 P.3d 779 (2024).2 

Ultimately, Division One's failure in Harrison's case to 

assess the Biggers factors using Derri's established 

science and its weighting of particular factors skewed that 

Court's analysis in favor of finding reliability and affirming 

admission of Mr. Moningka's show-up identification of 

Harrison as the robber. It also necessarily skewed the 

Court's harmless error analysis on every issue where the 

Court agreed there was error (i.e., the in-court 

identification, the prosecutor's use of generic tailoring, and 

the prosecutor's misstatement of the evidence) because 

the Court of Appeals repeatedly relied on the show-up 

identification to deem these errors harmless ( along with its 

misplaced reliance on the fact Officer Samantha Morris 

saw Mr. Harrison after the robbery). 

2 Harrison cites these unpublished opinions under GR 
14.1 (a) for whatever persuasive value this Court deems 
appropriate. 
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Because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with 

this Court's decision in Derri, review is appropriate under 

RAP 13.4(b )( 1 ). 

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION ON 
DEFENSE COUNSEL'S "TACTICAL 
SILENCE" CONFLICTS WITH PRIOR 
DECISIONS OF THIS COURT AND THE 
COURT OF APPEALS. 

Every criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to 

the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth 

Amendment and art. I, section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 

685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984); State v. 

Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). 

Failing to object constitutes ineffective assistance 

where (1) the failure was not a legitimate strategic 

decision; (2) an objection would likely have been 

sustained; and (3) there is a reasonable probability the 

jury verdict would have differed with a proper objection. 

In re Personal Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647, 714, 
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101 P.3d 1 (2004); In re Fleming, 142 Wn.2d 853, 866, 16 

P.3d 610 (2001 ); State v. Saunders, 9 1  Wn. App. 575, 

578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998). 

Mr. Harrison's trial defense was that he was not the 

robber but merely a thief who took advantage of the 

situation by stealing items from the victims' Honda after the 

robber fled. RP 832-834 .. Mr. Harrison testified that he 

came upon the car while walking to a friend's home, where 

he was going to replenish his supply of drugs to use and 

sell. RP 830-831. His intent when entering the Honda was 

to find, take, and trade items of value for drugs, thereby 

spending less of his own money. RP 839. Consistent with 

this defense, Mr. Harrison testified he was carrying cash in 

his wallet when stopped and arrested. RP 856. 

Attempting to undermine Mr. Harrison's trial defense, 

during closing arguments the prosecutor asserted, "his 

version of events is patently unreasonable. Mr. Harrison 

testified he was on his way to a friend's house to buy some 
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more drugs. Yet he had no cash on him when 

apprehended by officers . . . .  " RP 894 (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals agreed the prosecutor 

misstated the evidence. Slip Op., at 17-18. The Court also 

found that, had defense counsel objected, the trial court 

could have repaired the damage by telling jurors to 

disregard it or reminding jurors the prosecutor's argument 

was not the evidence. Slip Op., at 19. However, the Court 

declined to find deficient performance: 

Deciding whether to object is a "classic 
example[ ] of trial tactics. " State v. Crow, 8 
Wn. App. 2d 480, 509, 438 P.3d 541 (2019). 
Furthermore, our Supreme Court ha[s] 
recognized that "[l]awyers do not commonly 
object during closing argument 'absent 
egregious misstatements, "' and thus "[a] 
decision not to object during summation is 
within the wide range of permissible legal 
conduct. " In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 
Wn.2d 647, 717, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (quoting 
United States v. Neocoechea, 986 F.2d 1273, 
1281 (9th Cir. 1993)). Here, it is likely that 
Harrison's counsel chose not to object to the 
misstatement rather than to highlight to the 
jury that Harrison's testimony was internally 
inconsistent. 
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Slip Op., at 20-21. 

The Court of Appeals' analysis is flawed and 

conflicts with other decisions from this Court and Division 

Three. 

As Division Three recently discussed, the general 

presumption of tactical silence is overcome when the 

evidence commented upon "is significant to the State's 

case . . . .  " State v. Stotts, 26 Wn. App. 2d 154, 166, 527 

P.3d 842 (2023) (citing State v. Vasquez, 198 Wn.2d 239, 

248, 494 P.3d 424 (2021 )).3 "Absent an obvious trial 

strategy under these circumstances, when a defendant 

demonstrates that objections would have been sustained, 

then the defendant meets the burden of showing that 

counsel's performance was deficient." Id. 

3 While Vasquez and Stotts involved prosecutors 
referencing inadmissible evidence, counsel's silence is 
equally indefensible when prosecutors misstate extremely 
important evidence. 
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The State targeted the issue of cash because the 

trial prosecutor recognized its significance in convincing 

jurors Harrison's defense was "patently unreasonable." 

See RP 894. And, as the Court of Appeals acknowledged, 

a timely defense objection would have been sustained 

and the misconduct cured. Slip Op., at 19. Thus, under 

Stotts and Vasquez, Mr. Harrison met his burden to show 

deficient performance. 

The Court of Appeals also erred in its analysis found 

in the last line of the paragraph quoted above: "Here, it is 

likely that Harrison's counsel chose not to object to the 

misstatement rather than to highlight to the jury that 

Harrison's testimony was internally inconsistent." 

Harrison's testimony was not internally inconsistent. He 

quite clearly testified that, while officers did not find cash 

during their initial search of his person at the scene, he had 

cash in his wallet, reflected by the police department's 

booking property report. RP 855-856. Had there been an 
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actual inconsistency, the Court of Appeals would not have 

agreed that the prosecutor misstated the evidence on this 

point. See Slip Op. , at 18-19. 

No reasonably competent defense lawyer - as a 

matter of tactics - would choose to do nothing to correct 

the record (including during the subsequent defense 

closing argument) and simply allow the prosecutor to 

expressly misstate the evidence on this important point. 

The only thing a defense objection would have highlighted 

is the very helpful circumstance that Harrison testified he 

was carrying cash to buy drugs. 

Because the Court of Appeals decision on tactical 

silence conflicts with decisions from this Court and Division 

Three, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). 

And because there was no legitimate tactical decision, 

defense counsel was ineffective. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Harrison respectfully asks this Court to grant his 

petition and reverse his convictions. 

I certify that this petition contains 3,662 words 
excluding those portions exempt under RAP 1 8. 1 7. 

DATED this 25th day of March, 2024. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

NIELSEN KOCH & GRANNIS, PLLC 

v__)� ;'<, , 7{� 
DAVID B. KOCH, WSBA No. 23789 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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APPENDIX A 



FILED 
1 /1 6/2024 

Court of Appeals 
Division I 

State of Washington 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,  

Respondent, 

V. 

ROBERT LORNE HARRISON, 

Appellant. 

No. 83638-2-1 

DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPIN ION 

MANN, J .  - Robert Harrison was convicted by a jury of two counts of robbery in 

the first degree and one count of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree . 

Harrison appeals and argues that ( 1 ) the trial court erred when it permitted evidence of 

the showup and in-court identifications, (2) the prosecutor's generic tailoring argument 

violated his constitutional rights, (3) the prosecutor's misstatement of the evidence in 

closing argument prejudiced him, (4) the trial court erred when it ruled that he had 

opened the door to otherwise inadmissible and prejudicial evidence, (5) the trial court 

erred when it denied h is motion for a mistrial , and (6) the cumulative impact of multiple 

errors denied him a fair trial .  We affirm. 



No. 83638-2-1/2 

A 

On January 6, 2020, Dinasetia Sangkay and her husband Joseph Moningka 

decided to have d inner in Seattle's University District. The couple arrived around 8 

p .m. ,  parked Moningka's Honda Accord on a side street, and began walking toward the 

restaurant. It was raining and dark at the time, but there were streetlights in the area. 

As the two walked down the street, Moningka noticed a man sitting on a bench. After 

they passed the man, he approached and called at them from behind. When Moningka 

turned to look, the man pointed a handgun at him and demanded his cel l  phone and car 

keys. Moningka shouted "Don't shoot," tried to pul l  Sangkay behind him to shield her, 

and surrendered his phone, Sangkay's phone, and car keys. 

The man then ran back to Moningka's car while the couple fled in the opposite 

direction. Moningka could see the man entering the car from the driver's door. 

Moningka borrowed a phone from a nearby pedestrian and called 91 1 .  After moving 

inside the car for a few minutes, the man exited the vehicle and started running toward 

the Foege bui lding. 1 About a minute later, however, Moningka watched the man return 

to the vehicle. 

Responding officers arrived at the scene within about one minute of Moningka's 

9 1 1 cal l .  Seattle Police Officer Samantha Morris saw a man later identified as Harrison 

standing at the front door of Moningka's vehicle. Because d ispatch had not yet 

described the suspect, Officer Morris did not initially realize the man might be the 

1 Foege Hall is a University of Washington property housing the bioengineering department. 
University of Washington, William H. Foege Bioengineering, 
https://www.engr.washington.edu/abouUbldgs/bioe. 
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suspect. Once a description of the suspect was provided , Officer Christopher Bentley 

detained Harrison as he tried to flee the area. Officer Morris identified Harrison as the 

same person she had seen standing at Moningka's car. 

Officers Erik Larson and Benjamin Carter also responded to the 91 1 cal l .  

Moningka described the suspect to Officer Larson as a tal l  black man wearing a dark 

hat, b lue jacket, and dark pants. When Officer Larson first contacted the victims, he told 

them, "We have a possible person in custody." Later, Officer Larson told Sangkay, "We 

caught these people." 

Officer Carter left with Moningka to attempt a showup identification of the 

suspect. While walking to Officer Carter's patrol car, Officer Carter told Moningka that 

they had someone "detained." During the showup, Moningka positively identified 

Harrison as the suspect based on his clothing. After receiving information through his 

ear piece that Moningka had positively identified Harrison ,  Officer Larson told Sangkay 

that "This guy's going to jai l .  He's going to be arrested." 

After returning with Moningka, Officer Carter then took Sangkay for a showup 

identification. After they left, Officer Larson told Moningka, "so it sounds l ike we found 

h im, right?" Moningka responded, "okay," and Larson fol lowed with, "he's going to go to 

jail tonight." 

Sangkay could not identify Harrison at the showup. Before participating in the 

showup,  however, Sangkay provided a general description of the robber that he was 

black and wearing a dark hoody and a hat. 

When officers searched Harrison , they found an empty pistol holster tied to his 

waist and both Sangkay's and Moningka's cel l  phones in his pocket. In Moningka's car, 
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officers discovered a loaded .9 mm handgun on the front passenger floorboard under a 

sunshade along with the car keys. 

B 

Harrison was charged with two counts of robbery in the first degree (count 1 and 

2), each including a firearm sentencing enhancement, and one count of unlawful 

possession of a firearm in the first degree (count 3). Harrison denied the charges, 

arguing that he had been misidentified as the suspect. 

Harrison moved during pretrial to suppress Moningka's showup identification 

because the procedures used were impermissibly suggestive and ,  under the total ity of 

circumstances, produced an unreliable and inadmissible result. 

The trial court found that Moningka's showup identification was impermissibly 

suggestive by fai l ing to fol low pol ice department procedures.2 But the court found that 

under the total ity of circumstances, Moningka's identification was sufficiently rel iable 

and determined it admissible. The trial court determined Sangkay's interactions 

involving the officers and Moningka was h ighly improper and suppressed all evidence of 

Sangkay's involvement in the showup identification. 

Harrison also asked that the State be prohibited from asking the victims to 

identify Harrison in court. Citing State v. Redmond, 75 Wn.2d 62, 448 P.2d 938 (1 968),  

Harrison argued that without independent evidence supporting an in-court identification 

the State should be prevented from asking the victims to identify Harrison. Given that 

2 Seattle Police Department policy states, "Administrators will make an effort to avoid saying 
anything to a victim or witness that would suggest that there is a specific suspect or person of interest for 
the crime at any time prior to an identification procedure. During show ups, officers will take reasonable 
steps to avoid creating the appearance that the suspect is in custody." 
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Sangkay never identified Harrison ,  and Moningka only identified him based on clothing, 

the trial court asked the State how it cou ld possibly make the showing necessary to 

al low a positive in-court identification. The prosecutor responded: 

Your Honor, I guess the State's point in asking the question in court wou ld 
just be to show the jury l ike they do not recognize this person as the 
person ,  and it just further goes to their credibi l ity that they are wil l ing to 
say this and not be persuaded by any kind of outside influences. So that 
would be the State's only purpose in doing so. So that-I guess to answer 
the Court's question , do I have any reason to believe that they wou ld say 
that this is the person? No, I do not. 

The trial court ruled, " I ' l l  al low the questions about whether the witnesses are able to 

identify Mr. Harrison in court, g iven that I don't expect either one to be able to do so." 

Harrison was tried first on the two robbery charges. 3 At trial ,  Moningka testified 

that he recognized Harrison as the individual who robbed him. Harrison's counsel tried 

to impeach the in-court identification, but Moningka said that he could identify Harrison.  

Sangkay testified that she recognized no one in the courtroom as the robber. 

Harrison testified that he was passing through the area on his way to buy drugs 

from a friend, which he intended to resel l  at nightclubs.  Harrison further testified that he 

saw a man, purportedly the real robber, sitting in the driver's seat of Moningka's car and 

then getting out of the car and walking toward the Foege bui lding. After the man left the 

car and walked away, Harrison decided to steal whatever he could find inside the 

unattended car. Harrison testified that he found two cel l  phones and a gun inside a 

holster. 

3 The trial court granted a defense motion to bifurcate the charges for trial, so that count 3 would 
be considered only after the jury completed deliberations on the robbery charges. 
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The jury found Harrison guilty on al l  three charges.4 

Harrison appeals. 

I I  

Harrison chal lenged the trial court's decision not to suppress both the showup 

and in-court identifications. 

"In 1 977, the United States Supreme Court held that the due process clause of 

the Fourteenth Amendment compels exclusion of eyewitness identification evidence 

that (1 ) was obtained by an unnecessarily suggestive pol ice procedure and (2) lacks 

rel iabi l ity under the total ity of circumstances." State v. Derri , 1 99 Wn .2d 658, 673-74, 

5 1 1 P.3d 1 267(2022) (citing Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S.  98, 1 14 ,  97 S. Ct. 2243, 

53 L. Ed. 2d 1 40 ( 1 977); State v. Hi l l iard ,  89 Wn.2d 430, 438-39, 573 P .2d 22 (1 977)). 

Chal lenging a police identification procedure requires a two-part analysis. Derri , 

1 99 Wn.2d at 67 4. First, the defendant must establish by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the procedure used was unnecessarily suggestive. Derri, 1 99 Wn.2d at 

67 4. If it was, the court then considers whether, under the totality of the circumstances, 

the unnecessarily suggestive procedure created a very substantial l ikel ihood of 

irreparable misidentification. Derri , 1 99 Wn.2d at 674. 

The trial court's findings of fact in a suppression motion are reviewed for 

"substantial evidence." State v. Garvin ,  1 66 Wn.2d 242, 249, 207 P.3d 1 266 (2009). 

Evidence is "substantial" when it is sufficient "to persuade a fai r-minded person of the 

4 Guilty verdicts for count 1 and 2 were entered on November, 23, 202 1 ,  and guilty verdict for 
count � was entered on November 24, 202 1 .  
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truth of the stated premise." Garvin,  1 66 Wn.2d at 249. Conclusions of law are 

reviewed de nova. Garvin ,  1 66 Wn.2d at 249. 

A 

Harrison argues that the trial court erred when it permitted evidence of 

Moningka's showup identifications because there was a substantial  l ikel ihood of 

irreparable misidentification. We disagree. 

Because Officer Carter told Moningka that they had someone detained and they 

planned to see if Moningka could identify them, the trial court determined that 

Moningka's showup identification was impermissibly suggestive. We agree with the trial 

court. Thus, we look to the second part of the Derri analysis-whether the procedure 

created a very substantial l ikelihood of irreparable misidentification . 

Admission of an identification obtained through a suggestive procedure does not 

violate due process if it possesses "sufficient aspects of reliabil ity." Derri , 1 99 Wn.2d at 

67 4. Reliabi l ity is assessed using the five Biggers factors: ( 1 )  the opportunity of the 

witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, (2) the witness' degree of attention , 

(3) the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal ,  (4) the level of certainty 

demonstrated at the procedure,  and (5) the time between the crime and the 

identification procedure. Derri , 1 99 Wn.2d 658 at 674-75 (citing Neil v. Biggers, 409 

U.S.  1 88, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 ( 1 972)). The parties agree that the trial court 

properly found that Moningka's level of certainty was good and that the showup 

occurred relatively soon after the robbery. As a result, the only disputed Biggers factors 

are 1 ,  2, and 3 .  
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First, the trial court found that Moningka's opportun ity to see Harrison was 

"good." Harrison argues that the trial court's finding is not supported by the evidence 

because Moningka's opportunity to see Harrison was l imited by weather, darkness, 

hats, hoods, and time. We disagree. 

Courts typically consider the duration, distance , and qual ity of witness' 

observations in assessing the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time 

of the crime. Derri , 1 99 Wn.2d at 686. Although the robbery itself was brief, Moningka 

continued to observe Harrison for several minutes while he moved inside Moningka's 

car, went to the Foege building, and came back to the vehicle. Moningka was also 

close to Harrison during the robbery; Moningka testified that he could have reached out 

and touched Harrison . And while it was dark, there were streetl ights throughout the 

area and Moningka's identification was based less on fine facial features and more on 

Harrison's clothing. And final ly, Harrison's identification occurred shortly after the 

robbery when his memory was stil l fresh .  Substantial evidence supports the trial court's 

finding. 

Second, the trial court found Moningka's degree of attention was "good." While 

Harrison agrees that the "robbery captured Moningka's ful l  attention" he argues that the 

trial court's finding is not supported because Moningka's attention was d ivided due to 

unrelated circumstances, including the presence of a weapon. We disagree. 

There is no doubt that Moningka was focused on the weapon pointed at him 

while the robbery was occurring. ,But to the extent his attention to Harrison's identity 

might have been reduced by the stress of being held at gunpoint, Moningka continued 

to observe Harrison after the robbery as he moved inside the car and came back from 
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the Foege building. There is no evidence that Moningka's attention was diminished 

during his later observations. 5 Moningka's focus on Harrison both during and after the 

robbery supports his attention being good. Substantial evidence supports the trial 

court's finding. 

Third ,  the trial court found Moningka's description of Harrison was "accurate." 

Harrison argues that the trial court's finding is not supported by evidence because 

Moningka's description was not "particularly detailed." We disagree. Moningka 

accurately noted Harrison's race, approximate age, and the cloth ing he was wearing. 

Substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding. 

Based on the five Biggers factors, Moningka's showup identification of Harrison 

possessed sufficient "aspects of rel iabi l ity." Derri, 1 99 Wn.2d at 674. The trial court did 

not error in denying Harrison's motion to suppress. 

B 

Harrison next argues that the trial court erred when it permitted Moningka's in­

court identification of Harrison because any trial identification was hopelessly tainted by 

officers' statements fol lowing the showup. We agree that the trial court erred in allowing 

the in-court identification, but the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

After Moningka's showup identification, Officer Carter left with Sangkay to 

determine whether she could make a showup identification,  Officer Larson told 

5 At trial, Harrison presented Dr. Jeffrey Loftus as an expert on human perception and human 
memory. Dr. Loftus testified about "weapon focus," a psychological theory that "if there is a weapon . . .  
people . . .  will tend to pay attention to the weapon" at the expense of other details. This information was 
not introduced at the CrR 3.6 hearing, and thus was not part of the trial court's analysis in determining 
whether to admit the showup identification. Further, Dr. Loftus did not interview Moningka and did not 
render a specific opinion in this case. 
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Moningka, "so it sounds l ike we found h im, right?" Moningka responded, "okay," and 

Larson fol lowed with , "he's going to go to jai l ton ight." 

After Sangkay rejoined Moningka at the Foege Building fol lowing her fai lure to 

identify Harrison at the showup,  officers returned their cel l  phones (found on Harrison) 

and said that they had also recovered their car keys. Officer Larson later explained to 

both that pol ice were doing everything necessary "in order to get this guy to go away." 

Officer Larson also said to Sangkay and Moningka ,  "to summarize everything . . .  the 

guy robbed you ,  you cal led 9 1 1 ,  we caught h im, and he's going to jai l ." One of the last 

statements made by Officer Carter to Sangkay and Moningka was, "he wil l  be booked 

into jai l for armed robbery" and, after describing that crime as very serious said, "so he's 

gonna go to jai l ." 

These statements necessarily confirmed to Moningka that, despite not 

recognizing his face, he had correctly identified Harrison as the robber. Because 

Moningka's identification was tainted by the officers' statements after his showup 

identification, a subsequent in-court identification is inadmissible unless the State can 

show by clear and convincing evidence that the in-court identification has an 

independent source uninfluenced by the showup identification and officers' statements. 

Redmond, 75 Wn.2d at 64-65 (citing United States v. Wade, 388 U .S.  2 1 8, 240-42, 87 

S. Ct. 1 926, 1 8  L. Ed. 2d 1 1 49 (1 967)); Hi l l iard ,  89 Wn.2d at 439-40. 

Because the State could not show an independent source for the later in-court 

identification, it was an error to al low Moningka to be asked whether he could identify 

Harrison in the jury's presence. 
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The State bears the burden to overcome a presumption of prejudice and prove 

the violations harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. I rby, 1 70 Wn.2d 874, 885-

86, 246 P.3d 796 (201 1 ) . '"A constitutional error is harmless only if the reviewing court 

is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury wou ld reach the same 

result absent the error, and where the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it 

necessarily leads to a finding of gui lt. "' State v. Espey, 1 84 Wn. App. 360, 370, 336 

P.3d 1 1 78 (20 14) (quoting State v. Burke, 1 63 Wn.2d 204, 222, 1 81 P.3d 1 (2008)). 

The State meets its burden of proof. The identity of the suspect was the only 

contested issue at trial .  Harrison admitted entering Moningka's car and rummaging 

around. He also acknowledged being in possession of the victims' phones and a pistol 

holster. Harrison's defense hinged on his claim that the real robber inexplicably 

abandoned both his pistol and the proceeds of the crime in Moningka's car, and that 

Harrison then restole these items when he reentered the open car. 

I n  contrast, during Moningka's 9 1 1 cal l ,  he told the d ispatcher that the robber 

was "sti l l  here . . .  trying to . . .  take my car." While Moningka briefly lost sight of the 

robber when he ran toward the Foege bui lding, Moningka saw the same man return to 

his vehicle about a minute later. As d iscussed above, the trial court did not err in 

al lowing the video recording of Moningka's showup identification to be introduced at 

trial . The video was played for the jury and Moningka confirmed while watching the 

video that "with the help of his clothing, I was able to identify him 1 00 percent." 

In add ition ,  Officer Morris also identified Harrison at trial . Officer Morris 

explained that when she arrived in response to the 91 1 cal l  she parked behind the 

Honda Accord and observed a man standing in the door of the car. The man looked at 
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her, made eye contact, and gave her a head nod. Officer Morris then testified that once 

Harrison was apprehended she "immediately recognized him as the same guy who 

made eye contact with me and head nodded me." Officer Morris continued : 

A: We made very specific eye contact and a head nod when we were 
at 1 5th. It was very soon after that that I saw the exact same face 
with the same clothing description and al l of that together, and I 
was able to recognize that face from just moments prior. 

Q: And is this person in the courtroom today? 

A: He is. 

Q: That you recogn ized that night? 

A: Yes. 

Thus, even excluding Moningka's in-court identification , Harrison was identified 

by both Moningka's showup identification and by Officer Morris. Any error in allowing 

Moningka's in-court identification was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 

1 1 1  

Under both the United States and Washington Constitutions, a defendant has the 

right to "appear and defend in  person," to testify on their own behalf, and to confront 

witnesses against them. U.S. CONST. amend. VI ; WASH. CONST. art. I , § 22.6 Harrison 

argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing argument and violated 

his constitutional right to appear at trial by improperly suggesting, without evidentiary 

6 The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides in pertinent part: "In all criminal 
prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right . . .  to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The 
confrontation clause includes the right to be present at trial .  I l l inois v. Allen. 397 U.S. 337, 338, 90 S. Ct. 
1 057, 25 L. Ed. 2d 353 (1 970). Article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution provides in pertinent 
part: "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person. or by 
counsel, to demand the nature and cause of the accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify 
in his own behalf, to meet the witnesses against him face to face." 
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support, that he tailored his trial testimony to the evidence. We agree that the 

prosecutor erred by making a generic tai loring argument in violation of Harrison's 

constitutional right. But we conclude that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable 

doubt. 

A 

A claim of "tai loring" al leges that the defendant conformed their testimony to the 

evidence they observed while attending trial .  State v. Hilton, 1 64 Wn. App. 81 , 93, 261 

P.3d 683 (201 1 ). Tailoring arguments are considered "specific" if derived from the 

defendant's actual testimony, including both direct testimony and cross-exam ination. 

State v. Berube, 1 71 Wn. App. 1 03, 1 1 5- 1 7 ,  286 P.3d 402 (201 2). Tailoring arguments 

are considered "generic," however, if based solely on the defendant's presence at the 

proceed ing and not based on the defendant's direct examination or cross-examination . 

Berube, 1 71 Wn. App. at 1 1 5. "A generic tailoring argument raised only in the 

prosecution's closing argument, and untethered to the defendant's direct testimony or 

cross-examination, violates article I ,  �ection 22 of the Washington Constitution. "  State 

v. Carte, _ Wn. App. 2d. _ 534 P.3d 378, 386 (2023) (citing State v. Martin, 1 71 

Wn.2d 521 , 536-37, 252 P.3d 872 (20 1 1 )) ;  Berube, 1 7 1 Wn. App. at 1 1 6-1 7). 

In  Berube, the defendant, Ivory Berube, was charged with first degree assault 

related to the shooting of Tan isha Barquet outside a Seattle restaurant. 1 71 Wn. App. 

at 1 09. When interviewed by the police, Berube denied knowing or shooting Barquet. 

At trial ,  Berube's mother testified that Berube had told her he had drinks with Barquet 

the night of the shooting. Berube, 1 71 Wn. App. at 1 09. Berube also testified at trial 

that he had drinks with Barquet the night of the shooting but was not involved. Berube, 
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1 71 Wn. App. at 1 1 0 .  In closing argument, the prosecutor made the following comment 

challenging Berube's credibi l ity: 

And what does he do then when he takes the stand about that 
conversation, he who has sat here throughout the entire trial and l istened 
to everything that everyone testifies about? He has to make his version of 
his events conform with what he has heard his mother testify about. So 
he tel ls you that Kyla and Tanisha had a drink and that he stood there and 
sipped his vodka drink with them. If that had happened, Tanisha would 
have told you that that happened because that wou ld only strengthen her 
identification of him as the shooter. 

Berube, 1 71 Wn. App. at 1 1 4- 1 5. We concluded that there was no misconduct because 

the argument was based on Berube's direct testimony and statements to the pol ice and 

therefore not generic tailoring. Berube, 1 71 Wn. App. at 1 1 6-1 7. 

In  Carte, the defendant, Edward Carte Jr. ,  also testified at trial . Unl ike Berube, 

there was no evidence presented of confl icting statements or testimony. During closing 

argument, the prosecution argued : 

[The defense gave] you the defendant's side of the story, the side of the 
story that he gave to you after he had the benefit of having heard all of the 
evidence in this case and hearing how everyone else testified in 
conforming his testimony to fit for certain facts, but not others. 

Carte, 534 P.3d at 386. We concluded that because the argument was untethered to 

testimony or evidence it was an improper generic tailoring argument. We explained : 

The prosecution did not point to any specific portion of Carte's testimony 
that he conformed "to fit for certain facts. "  Nor d id the prosecution suggest 
Carte's testimony differed in any way from statements he made before 
trial . Instead , the prosecution asserted Carte "conform[ed] his testimony" 
to the other evidence based only on the benefit of his right to attend his 
tria l  and confront the witnesses against him. The prosecution's tailoring 
argument violated article I, section 22 and was improper. 
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Carte, 534 P.3d at 386. 

B 

During Harrison's direct examination, his counsel confirmed with him that he was 

famil iar with the evidence in the case. 

Q: Before I ask you some questions about January 6th , I want to step 
back and ask some other questions. Have attorney Melesio and I ,  
have we been representing you? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Have you had a chance to review prior to this trial starting some of 
the police reports, the body cam,  the witness interviews and other 
documents in this case? 

A: I have. 

Q: And you also had a chance to observe and l isten to al l  of the 
testimony in this trial? 

A: I have. 

On cross-examination, the State also briefly touched on Harrison's review of the 

evidence, without suggesting that his review had impacted Harrison's testimony: 

Q: Now, you heard the testimony in this case. You've been here for 
this entire trial ,  correct? 

A: Yes. 

Q: You were present for every single witness who testified in this 
case? 

A: That's correct. 

Q: You heard the testimony from the officers about the items found on 
you during the search, is that correct? 

A: That's correct. 
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During closing argument, however, the prosecutor explicitly accused Harrison of 

tailoring his testimony based on his knowledge of the evidence against h im:  

Now, you also heard testimony from Mr. Harrison himself. And once you 
get to the jury room and have the instructions in front of you ,  you will have 
the opportunity to read this. But on the bottom of page two to the top of 
page three on instruction one that Judge Roberts read to you ,  you were 
instructed that in considering a witness's testimony, you may consider any 
personal interest in the outcome as well as the reasonableness of the 
witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence. 

When considering this instruction and weighing the credibi l ity of Mr. 
Harrison's own statements, you can see that of al l  the witnesses who took 
the stand, Mr. Harrison has strong personal interest in the outcome or the 
issues. Mr. Harrison was present for the entire trial .  He had the abil ity to 
review the reports and discovery in this case. He has had almost two 
years, in addition to being able to hear how al l  of the evidence unfolded in 
this case, to form his story that he gave to you this morning. 

(Emphasis added. )  Defense counsel objected, but the objection was overruled. 

The prosecutor's argument was generic tai loring. Like Carte, the argument was 

made only in closing argument and was not tethered to Harrison's direct testimony or 

cross-examination. The prosecutor d id not point to any specific portion of Harrison's 

testimony that he conformed "to fit for certain facts." Nor d id the prosecutor suggest 

Harrison's testimony differed in any way from statements he made before trial . As in 

Carte, the prosecutor's argument was generic tailoring and was improper. Carte, 534 

P.3d at 386. 

C 

Because the error was constitutional ,  we look next to whether the State can 

demonstrate that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. I rby, 1 70 Wn.2d 

at 885-86. Error of constitutional magnitude is harmless when a reviewing court is 
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convinced "beyond a reasonable doubt that the State's misconduct did not affect the 

verdict." State v. Emery, 1 74 Wn.2d 741 , 756, 278 P.3d 653 (201 2). 

The State meets its burden of proving constitutional harmless error. First, the 

challenged statement was singular, fleeting,  and insignificant in l ight of the evidence. 

Second , the statement was made during the State's opening argument and defense 

counsel d i rectly addressed the impl ication of tailoring, noting that Harrison had a right to 

discuss the case with h is lawyer and minimizing any potential motive to fabricate. And 

final ly, as discussed above, the evidence of Harrison's guilt was overwhelming. The 

only issue at trial was his identification, and Harrison was identified by both Moningka's 

showup identification and by Officer Morris. 

IV 

Harrison argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct by misstating the 

evidence during closing argument. While we agree that the prosecutor misstated the 

evidence, Harrison did not object and the statement was not flagrant or i l l  intentioned 

and cou ld have been cured with an instruction. Harrison waived this claim.  

A 

Harrison testified that while on his way to a friend's house to obtain drugs for 

personal use and sale, he saw the Honda Accord sitting open and took advantage of 

the situation to car prowl. 

On cross-examination, the prosecutor chal lenged Harrison's testimony by 

emphasizing that when pol ice officers searched Harrison , they found no money on h im: 

Q: You heard the testimony from the officers about the items found on 
you during the search, is that correct? 
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A: That's correct. 

Q: There wasn't any amount of money found on you ,  is that correct? 

A: No, there wasn't. 

Q: The items that were found on you were the two cel lphones, one in 
each pocket, is that correct? 

A: That's correct. 

Q: Now, in addition to the cellphones that you found in the car, there 
was also the empty holster that the officers also found on you 
wrapped around your waist, correct? 

A: That's right. 

Q: But again, no cash on you that you were planning to use in order to 
resupply your drugs? 

A: Wel l ,  I had personal cash on me, in my wallet. That's on my-they 
have a property report when I got booked into the jai l .  It was in my 
wallet along with my credit cards and ID.  I had personal cash on 
me, but nothing I 'd found in the car. It was just loose change in the 
car. 

During closing argument, the prosecutor misstated Harrison's testimony, focusing 

only on Harrison's in itial statement that officers found no money on h im :  

But in considering Mr. Harrison's testimony and the reasonableness of Mr. 
Harrison 's statements in the context of all of the other evidence that 
you've been presented with , you will see that his version of events is 
patently unreasonable. Mr. Harrison testified he was on his way to his 
friend's house to buy some more drugs. Yet he had no cash on him when 
he was apprehended by officers. 

(Emphasis added. )  

Harrison did not object. 
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B 

If the defendant fai ls to object to the prosecutor's argument at trial , any error is 

waived unless the challenged remark was flagrant, i l l  intentioned , and caused incurable 

prejudice. State v. Thorgerson ,  1 72 Wn.2d 438, 443, 258 P.3d 43 (201 1 ) . "Reviewing 

courts should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant or ill­

intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. "  

Emery, 1 74 Wn.2d at 762 . Prejudice is incurable when a new trial is the only remedy. 

Emery, 1 7  4 Wn.2d at 762. This court reviews improper remarks in the context of the 

entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and 

the instructions to the jury. State v. Pierce, 1 69 Wn. App. 553, 552, 280 P.3d 1 1 58 

(201 2). 

Harrison failed to object when the prosecutor misstated the evidence during 

closing argument and did not address the issue during his own summation. In the 

context of the entire argument, the prosecutor's misstatement was not flagrant or il l 

intentioned and was made only once, in passing. Had Harrison objected , the trial court 

could have stricken the complained-of remark and either instructed the jury to disregard 

it or reminded them that the attorneys' arguments are not evidence. State v. Dye, 1 78 

Wn.2d 541 , 556, 309 P.3d 1 1 92 (201 3) .  Harrison waived his claim of error. 

V 

In  the alternative, Harrison argues that defense counsel was ineffective because 

( 1 ) defense counsel did nothing when the prosecutor misstated the evidence, (2) a 

defense objection would have been sustained had defense counsel objected , and (3) 

the jury verdict would have been different. We disagree. 
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The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 

of the Washington Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to effective 

assistance of counsel. U .S.  CONST. amend. VI ; WASH. CONST. art. I , § 22; State v. Grier, 

1 71 Wn.2d 1 7, 32, 246 P.3d 1 260 (201 1 ). To prevai l  on an ineffective assistance of 

counsel cla im, the defendant must show both that defense counsel 's representation was 

deficient, and that the deficient representation was prejudicial .  Grier, 1 71 Wn.2d at 32-

33. Fai lure to establ ish either prong is fatal to an ineffective assistance of counsel 

claim. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S.  668, 685-86, 1 04 S. Ct. 2052 , 80 L. Ed . 2d 

674 (1 984). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of 

law and fact and is reviewed de novo. State v. Sutherby, 1 65 Wn.2d 870, 883, 204 

P.3d. 91 6 (2009). 

An attorney acts deficiently if their conduct falls "'below an objective standard of 

reasonableness."' Grier, 1 71 Wn.2d at 33 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S.  at 688). The 

defendant must show that any errors made were "so serious that counsel was not 

functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." State 

v. Fortun-Cebada,  1 58 Wn. App. 1 58 , 1 67, 241 P.3d 800 (201 0) (quoting Strickland , 

466 U.S.  at 688). The reasonableness inquiry presumes effective representation and 

requires the defendant to show the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons 

for the challenged conduct. State v. McFarland, 1 27 Wn.2d 322, 335-36, 899 P.2d 

1 251  (1 995). Competency of defense counsel is determined based on the entire record 

below. McFarland , 1 27 Wn.2d at 335. 

Deciding whether to object is a "classic example[ ] of trial tactics." State v. Crow, 

8 Wn. App. 2d 480, 509, 438 P.3d 541 (201 9). Furthermore, our Supreme Court had 
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recogn ized that "[l]awyers do not commonly object during closing argument 'absent 

egregious m isstatements,"' and thus "[a] decision not to object during summation is 

within the wide range of permissible legal conduct." In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 1 52 

Wn.2d 647, 7 1 7, 1 0 1 P.3d 1 (2004) (quoting United States v. Neocoechea, 986 F.2d 

1 273, 1 28 1  (9th Cir. 1 993)). Here, it is l ikely that Harrison's counsel chose not to object 

to the misstatement rather than to highlight to the jury that Harrison's testimony was 

internally inconsistent. 

A defendant is prejudiced by his attorney's deficient performance if he shows a 

reasonable probabil ity that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different but 

for his counsel's deficient performance. Grier, 1 71 Wn.2d at 34. A reasonable 

probabi l ity is defined as "a probabil ity sufficient to undermine confidence in the 

outcome." Grier, 1 71 Wn.2d at 34. Here,  in  l ight of the evidence of Harrison's guilt, 

including two identifications, Harrison cannot show a reasonable probabil ity of a 

d ifferent outcome had h is counsel objected to the prosecutor's statement. 

Harrison fails to carry the high burden of demonstrating ineffective assistance of 

counsel .  

VI 

It was uncontested that Moningka and Sangkay had been robbed at gunpoint. In  

h is  defense, Harrison claimed that he had not carried a gun since leaving the mi l itary 

and only chanced upon the handgun while prowl ing Moningka's car. Harrison contends 

that the trial court erred in al lowing the State to impeach Harrison based on h is 201 6 

conviction for robbery. We d isagree. 
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A 

ER 404(b) generally prohibits the admission of evidence of other "crimes, wrongs 

or acts . . .  to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity 

therewith ." To the extent that the State sought to introduce Harrison's use of a handgun 

during h is 201 6 robbery to show that he acted similarly during the robbery of Moningka 

and Sangkay, the evidence would arguably have been inadmissible under ER 404(b ) .  

But "[a] party may open the door to otherwise inadmissible evidence by 

introducing evidence that must be rebutted in order to preserve fairness and determine 

the truth ." State v. Wafford , 1 99 Wn. App. 32, 36-37, 397 P.3d 926 (201 7). A party that 

raises a particu lar subject at trial may "open the door" to evidence offered to explain, 

clarify, or contradict the party's evidence. State v. Jones, 1 44 Wn. App. 284, 298, 1 83 

P.3d 307 (2008). The doctrine is essentially "a theory of expanded relevance" which 

recognizes "that a party can waive protection from a forbidden topic by broaching the 

subject." State v. Rushworth, 1 2  Wn. App. 2d 466, 473, 458 P.3d 1 1 92 (2020). 

A trial court's decision to al low cross-examination under an open the door theory 

is reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Ortega, 1 34 Wn. App. 61 7 ,  626, 1 42 P.3d 

1 75 (2006) .  

B 

During Harrison's d irect examination, he confirmed that he had pleaded guilty to 

robbery in the first degree and possession of stolen vehicle in 201 6. Later, as defense 

counsel had Harrison summarize his testimony, the fol lowing exchange occurred 

between defense counsel and Harrison: 
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Q: Did you break into the car yourself? 

A: No, I didn't have to. It was wide open. The door was open. 

Q: And is your testimony that you took the cel lphones that were in the 
vehicle? 

A: Yes. 

Q: Did you also have an empty holster on you? 

A: I took that from the car. When I got arrested, I did have it on me. 

Q: Why did you take the empty holster? 

A: I put the holster on while I was in the car because I was going to 
put the gun in it. But once I saw the vehicle behind me, I left the 
gun there. I just wanted to get away from the car. So the holster 
was sti l l  on me at the time. 

Q: Prior to going into this car did you have a firearm on you? 

A: No.  I haven't carried a gun since the mi l itary. 

(Emphasis added. )  

In  response, the State moved to admit evidence that Harrison possessed a gun 

during the 201 6  robbery arrest, which was long after his discharge from the mi l itary. 

Harrison objected, arguing the prior incident was irrelevant and pertained to a collateral 

matter, noting that the 201 6 robbery involved a note to a bank tel ler and not a firearm. 

Defense counsel emphasized that, according to the 201 6  pol ice report, no firearm was 

ever found on Harrison. Instead , a firearm was recovered from the driver's side door of 

the stolen car, a car Harrison was charged with possessing, but not steal ing. 

The trial court allowed a narrow inquiry for impeachment purposes: 

I wil l  al low impeachment of the statement that was made by Mr. Harrison 
that he has not carried a firearm since he was in the mil itary. You may 
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util ize information from what you . . .  feel you can prove up with regard to 
the incident. 

The fol lowing exchange subsequently occurred during the prosecutor's cross­

examination of Harrison : 

Q:  You stated that you haven't carried a firearm since the mil itary, and 
this was back in 2006 when you joined the air force? 

A: Yep. 

Q: Now, you stated during direct that you were convicted of robbery in 
the first degree, as well as possession of stolen vehicle in [201 6] ,  
correct? 

A: That's correct. 

Q: You pied to real facts in that case, meaning you understood the 
Court would review the probable cause certification of that case in 
order to establish a factual basis for your guilty plea, is that correct? 

A: That's correct. 

Q: Now, in that probable cause certification , it indicated that a 9mm 
handgun was found in the front driver's side door of the vehicle that 
you were possessing. The vehicle for the purpose of the 
possession of stolen vehicle charge, is that correct? 

A: That's what the cop said . 

Defense counsel asked Harrison several clarifying questions about the prior 

robbery on re-direct examination: 

Q: I n  201 6, in this Snohomish County situation that this prosecutor. . .  
just asked you ,  was the handgun found in the front driver's side 
door panel. Is that correct? 

A: That's what I was told. 

Q: Did you actually handle that handgun in 201 6 that was in the front 
driver's side door panel? 
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A: No, I didn't. 

Q: Did you use a handgun in the robbery in 201 6? Yes or no? 

A: No. I went in with a note. 

C 

At the outset, Harrison's 201 6  convictions for robbery and possession of a stolen 

vehicle involved d ishonesty and were per se admissible to attack Harrison's credibil ity 

under ER 609(a)(2). State v. Rivers, 1 29 Wn.2d 697, 705, 921 P.2d 495 (1 996) 

(robbery); State v. McKinsey. 1 1 9 Wn.2d 91 1 ,  91 3, 81 O P.2d 907 (1 991 ) (possession of 

stolen property).7 The question ,  therefore, is whether the underlying facts of the 201 6  

convictions, including the presence of a handgun, were admissible to explain, clarify, or 

contradict Harrison's testimony. Jones, 1 44 Wn. App. at 298. 

Harrison testified that he had not "carried a gun" since leaving the air force. The 

impl ication was he was not the robber because he had never possessed a gun in his 

post-mil itary l ife. But his testimony was m isleading because he was in at least 

constructive possession of a handgun in 201 6. A handgun was found in the driver's 

side door panel of the stolen car he possessed in 201 6. Harrison opened the door to 

his post-mi l itary possession of guns. The presence of a handgun during his 201 6  

crimes contracted or clarified Harrison's testimony. The trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in allowing the testimony. 

7 The trial court instructed the jury that it could "consider evidence that the defendant has been 
convicted of a crime only in deciding what weight or credibility to give to the defendant's testimony. You 
may not consider it for any other purpose." 
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VI I 

Harrison argues that the trial court erred when it denied his motion for a mistrial 

based on the prosecutor's improper discussion of proof beyond a reasonable doubt 

during closing argument. We disagree. 

A 

During their in itial closing argument, the prosecutor made these statements: 

[Prosecutor] : Now, the State has the burden to prove beyond a 
reasonable doubt that these crimes were committed by Mr. 
Harrison. And it is a high burden that the State embraces. 
But it is not some mythical and unattainable burden of proof. 
It does not mean beyond al l  doubt. Because in order for that 
to happen, you would have needed to be there during this 
incident to experience every single second of it, to know for 
sure that it happened. 

[Defense] : Objection, misstates burden. 

The Court: Sustained. 

[Defense] : Moved to strike. 

The Court: The last statement is stricken. 

[Prosecutor] : It does not mean beyond al l  doubt. And if you were there to 
experience every second of this incident to know for sure 
that it happened , you would be over there-

[Defense] : Objection. 

The Court: Sustained. 

[Prosecutor] : So what this means is, because it is not beyond all doubt, 
and because you don't know exactly what happened that 
day because you were not there-

[Defense] : Objection. 

The Court: Sustained. 
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Harrison moved for a mistrial after the jury was excused. The court then 

explained why it had sustained Harrison's objections: 

I sustained the objection bel ieving that the basis of the objection was 
asking the jury to put themselves in the place of the parties or witnesses in 
the case because of the comments about-sort of three times in a row of 
you wou ld have to be there. That was what I sustained , not of court, 
hearing a specific legal basis for the objection, which is not uncommon 
during the closing, of course. So that's what was going through my mind.  

Defense counsel declined to explain the legal rationale for the objections. The 

court determined that the prosecutor had been understandably confused by its rul ing: 

I th ink the fact that al l  three of us saw the basis of the objection slightly · 
differently supports [the prosecutor's] assertion that she was not doing 
anything delibe�ate and was attempting . . .  to determine what was being 
objected to and move on from it. 

The court denied Harrison's motion because defense counsel could not articulate 

any theory of prejud ice warranting a new trial .  Defense counsel u ltimately requested a 

curative instruction that was read to the jury before his closing argument: 

At the beginning of [the prosecutor's] closing argument, the Court 
sustained an objection as to a statement and instructed the jury to 
disregard that statement. [The prosecutor] went on to twice make related 
statements that were also objected to. Those objections were also 
sustained. The Court instructs you to d isregard those statements as wel l .  

B 

A motion for a mistrial should be granted only when the defendant has been so 

prejud iced that nothing short of a new trial can ensure that the defendant wil l  be fairly 

tried. Emery. 1 74 Wn.2d at 765. A trial court's rul ing denying a mistrial is reviewed for 

an abuse of discretion . State v. McKenzie, 1 57 Wn.2d 44, 51 , 1 34 P.3d 221 (2006). An 

abuse of discretion exists only if no reasonable judge could have reached the same 

conclusion. McKenzie, 1 57 Wn.2d 44 at 52. In determining whether the trial judge 
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acted within their discretion , a reviewing court considers (1 ) the seriousness of the 

al leged error, (2) whether the error was cumulative to other properly admitted evidence, 

and (3) whether the trial court instructed the jury to disregard the error. State v. 

Gamble, 1 68 Wn.2d 1 61 , 1 77, 225 P.3d 973 (20 1 0). 

Harrison fails to demonstrate prejudice. While perhaps confusing, it appears the 

prosecutor was simply trying to explain that proof beyond a reasonable doubt was 

different from zero doubt. Harrison's objections were sustained and the trial court gave 

a curative instruction. The jury was also instructed that their verdict "must be based 

solely upon the evidence presented during these proceed ings." "Juries are presumed to 

have fol lowed the court's instructions absent evidence proving the contrary." State v. 

Kirkman, 1 59 Wn.2d 91 8, 928, 1 55 P.3d 1 25 (2007). The trial court d id not abuse its 

discretion in denying Harrison's motion for a mistrial . 

VI I I  

Harrison argues that cumulative impact of multiple trial errors denied h im  a fai r  

trial because in combination , they improperly interfered with presentation of h is  defense 

and eased the State's burden to prove his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. We 

disagree. 

The cumulative error doctrine requires reversal when a defendant establ ishes 

that multiple accrued errors rendered a trial fundamental ly unfair, even if these errors 

were individual ly harmless. In  re Pers. Restraint of Cross, 1 80 Wn.2d 664, 690-91 ,  327 

P.3d 660 (201 4), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Gregory, 1 92 Wn.2d 1 , 427 

P.3d 62 1 (201 8). The cumulative error "doctrine does not apply where the errors are 

few and have l ittle or no effect on the trial 's outcome." State v. Venegas, 1 55 Wn. App. 
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507, 520, 228 P.3d 81 3 (201 0). "There is no prejudicial error under the cumulative error 

rule if the evidence is overwhelming against a defendant. " Cross, 1 80 Wn.2d at 691 . 

Harrison fails to meet h is burden. As discussed above, the evidence of Harrison's gu ilt 

was overwhelming. The only issue at trial was h is identification , and Harrison was 

identified by both Moningka's showup identification and by Officer Morris. Harrison's 

trial was not fundamental ly unfair. 

Affirmed. 

WE CONCUR: 
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F ILED 
3/26/2024 

Court of Appeals 
Division I 

State of Washington 

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON ,  

Respondent, 

V. 

ROBERT LORNE HARRISON,  

Appel lant. 

No. 83638-2-1 

D IVIS ION ONE 

ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR RECONSIDERATION 

Appellant Robert Harrison moved to reconsider the court's opinion filed on 

January 1 6, 2024. Respondent the State of Wash ington has filed a response. The 

panel has determined that the motion for reconsideration should be denied. Therefore, 

it is 

ORDERED that the motion for reconsideration is denied . 

FOR THE COURT: 
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